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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA
EVANSVILLE DIVISION

ERNESTJOHNSON, )
Plaintiff, )
)

VS. ) 3:17¢cv-00124JMS-TAB
)
THE CITY OF EVANSVILLE, )
Defendant. )

ORDER

Plaintiff Ernest Johnsqgrwho is African Americanworked for theCity of Evansville’s
Parks Department on the mowing crew. From April 2016 to May 2016, he was not o&eeed
opportunities to work overtime, but his Caucasiaiwooker was. Mr. Johnson initiated this liti-
gation against the City of Evawille (the “City”), alleging race discrimination, hostile work envi-
ronment, retaliation, and breach of contract. The City filed a Motion for Sumpdgynént as to

all of Mr. Johnson’s claimsFjling No. 43, and the motion is now ripe for the Court’s decision.

l.
STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion for summary judgment asks the Court to find that a trial is unnecessangdeca
there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and, instead,whetnscentitled to judgment
as a matter of lawSeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a) As the current version of Rule 56 makes clear,
whether a party asserts that a fact is undisputed or genuinely disputed, theysagypport the
asserted fact by citing to particular parts of the record, including depositionsneiuis, or affi-
davits. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A)A party can alsoupport a fact by showing that the materials
cited do not establish the absence or presence of a genuine dispute or that thpadyersenot
produce admissible evidence to support the feetd. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(B)Affidavits or decla-

rations must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be adnmssidence,
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and show that the affiant is competent to testify on matters ste¢edR. Civ. P. 56(c)(4)Failure
to properly support a fact in opposition to a movant’s factual assertion can resultriovhet’s
fact being considered undisputed, and potentially in the gfaummary judgmentFed. R. @v.
P. 56(e)

In deciding a motion for summary judgment, the Court need only consider disputed fact
that are material to the decision. A disputed fact is material if it might affect tbenoel of the
suit under the governing lawdampton v. Ford Motor Cp561 F.3d 709, 713 (7th Cir. 2009)n
other wods, while there may be facts that are in dispute, summary judgment is #gupribpinose
facts are not outcome determinativelarper v. Vigilant Ins. C9.433 F.3d 521, 525 (7th Cir.
2005) Fact disputes that are irrelevant to the legal question will not be consideréerson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986)

On summary judgment, a party must show the Court what evidence it has that would con-
vince a trier of fact to accept its version of the evedtshnson v. Cambridge Indu825 F.3d
892, 901 (7th Cir. 2003)The moving party is entitled to summary judgment if no reasonable fact
finder could return a verdict for the nomoving party. Nelson v. Miller 570 F.3d 868, 875 (7th
Cir. 2009) The court views the record in the light most favorable to thenmmring party and
draws all reasonable inferences in that party’s fadarst v. Interstate Brands Corb12 F.3d
903, 907 (7th Cir. 2008)it cannot weigh evidence or make credibility determinations on summary
judgment because those tasks are left to thefifastr. O’Leary v. Accretive Health, Inc657
F.3d 625, 630 (7th Cir. 2011)The Court need only consider the cited materials, Fed. R. Cv. P.
56(c)(3), and the Seven@ircuit Court of Appeals has “repeatedly assured the district courts that
they are not required to scour every inch of the record for evidence that isghgteslevant to

the summary judgment motion before thenddhnson 325 F.3d at 898 Any doubt as to the
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existence of a genuine issue for trial is resolved against the moving parigetti v. GE Pension
Plan, 614 F.3d 684, 691 (7th Cir. 2010)

I.
STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following factual background is set forth pursuant to the standards detailed above. The
facts stated are not necessarily objectively true, but as the summary jucganelsird requires,
the undisputed facts and the disputed evidence are presented in the light mostefagditalel
party against whom the motion under consideration is maBeemcor USA, Inc. v. American
Home Assurance Co400 F.3d 523, 526-27 (7th Cir. 2005)

A. Mr . Johnson’s Position With the City of Evansville

In 2016, Mr. Johnson worked as a laborer in the Department of Parks and Recreation (the

“Parks Departmefjtfor the City. [Filing No. 441 at 3] Charles Mangold was the Parks Depatrt-

ment’s Maintenance Supervisor from 2014 until he retired in March 2iling[No. 4410 at

3.] In thespring of 2016, the Parks Department had three mowing crews comprised of two indi-

viduals each. Hiling No. 4410 at 4] Mr. Johnson was assigned to a {pg&rson mowing crew

and his partner was Reggie Haskins, whalse African American [Filing No. 441 at 16 Filing

No. 449 at 1 Filing No. 4410 at 5]

B. The Collective Bargaining Agreementand the Assignment of Overtime in the
Parks Department

Mr. Johnson and the oth®arks Department mowers were members of the Chauffeurs,

Teamsters and Helpers Local Umiblo. 215 (théUnion”). [Filing No. 1 at 2 Filing No. 444.]
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The Union and the City entered into a Collective Barggiigreemen{the “CBA”) effective
January 1, 2013 through December 31, 20Mjch provided in relevant part:

ARTICLE VII. Section 9 There shall be no discrimination in the assignment of
overtime. When an employee is assigned a particular task during regular work hours
or a shift is extended or work is required on a succeeding shift and there are em-
ployees working, qualified to do such work on the succeeding shift, then the em-
ployee assigned to the particular task or working on the extended shifiiedqua

to perform work required on the succeeding shift will be offered the overtime.
Thereafter, overtime shall be allocated as equitably as practical among thg-emplo
ees qualified to perform the work in questmxceptwhen the overtime requires a
crew. This provision shall not apply to those departments within which there

has been established a specific method of assigning overtime. those cases,

the inplace method of assigning overtime can be changed by agreement and such
change will be in writingnd approved by the Union and the Personnel Director of
the City of Evansville before it is effective.

[Filing No. 444 at 78 (emphasis added).]

Different City departments assign overtime in different waigding No. 441 at 18] The

Parks Department generabigsed overtime eligibility on seniorityFi[ing No. 44-10 at 3-4Mr.

Mangold testifying that overtime was assigned based on senidiiligg No. 4411 at 3(Brian

Holtz, Parks Department Executive Director, testifying thaParks Department already had set
a policy for assigning overtime before the Union and the City entered into the &BlAthat

overtime was assigned by senioritlg)ting No. 4412 (Rick Norman, Parks Department mowing

employee andurrentUnion Steward, testifying”Q: Okay. Now, when you were [working for
a previous City department] how did Parks and Recreation assign overtimeAheféat started
at the top. Q: Top? AHighest seniority offered overtime first. Q: And is that the same way

they did it when you moved over the Parks Maintenance? A:).Yddlr. Mangoldtestified that

! The events underlying this lawsuit occurred beginning in April 2016, after thetizBAas been
submitted had terminatedFi[ing No. 444 (CBA dated “[e]ffective January, PO13 through De-
cember 31, 2015").] Both parties treat the CBA that has been submitted as in effegttideri
relevant time period, so the Court will do the same.
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on one occasion he “put it out there for anyone if they wanted to work overtifibdg [No. 44-
10 at 6] This was a day “that happened to be there was overtime available where the need was

there.” [Filing No. 4410 at 6] Mr. Mangold did not testify regarding how he actually assigned

overtime that day, after ascertaining who was interested.
When Mr. Johnsofirst started working at the Parks Departmémt. Mangold would ask
who wanted to work overtime, people would raise their Raadd Mr. Mangold would record

who had raised their handEiling No. 441 at 17] Mr. Johnson was never told, or made aware,

of the Parks Department’s practice of assigning overtime based on senjBiling No. 441 at

4]

The practice of offering overtime based on seniority was in place before Mroddbes

came a Parks Depgeent employee. Hiling No. 4410 at 3 Filing No. 4411 at 3] Out of the six

employees on the seniority listrfthe Parks Department mowing crew, Mr. Johnson was fourth

and was behinRick Norman. Filing No. 441 at 4(Mr. Johnson testifying that Mr. Norman was

more senior than he was)Tlheemployees that were more senior to him were all Caucasian, and
Mr. Haskins— Mr. Johnson’s partner on his twoan mowing crew- was junior to him ands

African American. Filing No. 4410 at 45.] The practice of offering overtime based on seniority

was not in writing, nor was there a list of employees by seniofiing No. 441 at 4 Filing No.

44-11 at 3
The Parks Department would often get information throughout the day indicating th

something needed to be completed which would require overtime work, and Mr. Mangold would

first offer the overtime to the most senior employee, Terry Bodélilinfh No. 4410 at 5] Mr.

Bodell would usually turn down overtime opportunities because he did not like to work overtime,
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so Mr. Mangold would then offer overtime opportunities to the next most senior emploglee, Ri

Norman. Filing No. 44-10 at§

C. The Assignment of Overtime in April and May 2016
In April 2016, Mr. Mangold advised Parks Department employees that, as a result of sig-
nificant grass growth thapring, there would be overtime opportunities available to all Parks

Department mowers until he told them differentlzilihng No. 44-10 at 4 Mr. Mangold offered

overtime to everyone who was available, so that they could get caught up on mdéwing.No.

44-1 at 3] Mr. Mangold permitted Mr. Johnson to work overtime on the first three afay®

week of April 7, 2016. Hiling No. 44-1 at 14
As the Parks Department got caught up on moviiirgMangold informed employees that

the overtime arrangement had ended and no more overtime would be scheféilifegdNg. 445

at 1; Filing No. 4410 at 4] Mr. Norman, who is whitand who is senior to Mr. Johnsamorked

overtime that day and the next, howevékilifig No. 4441 at 3 Filing No. 4410 at 4]

OnApril 27, 2036, Mr. Johnsorwas tasked with cutting gragsdlowing a series of storms

and tornadoes that had hit the areilifg No. 1 at 3] Although he followed these instructions,

Mr. Mangold harshly questioned Mr. Johnsasto what he had been doing the previous day.

[Filing No. 1 at 3 Mr. Johnson replied that he had cut grass, and picked up paper, trash, and tree

limbs. [Filing No. 1 at 3 Mr. Mangold became angry and told Mr. Johnson that etmgioyees

had been assigned to pick up debris, and Mr. Johnson should not have ddriérepN¢. 1 at
3.] Mr. Mangold belittled Mr. Johnson in front of other employees for not denogigh work,

and he was the only one reprimanded at that tifaging No. 1 at 3-4

Mr. Norman was authorized to work overtime on May 4, 5, 6, and 11, 2016, but Mr. John-

son“was notextended the same opportunity for overtimeFilipg No. 1 at 4 Mr. Johnson
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testified that he does not know why Mr. Mangold offered overtime to Mr. Noratharrthan to
him, but tha doing so was in violation of the CBA and that “if I'm doing the job, me and another
black man doing the job and they refuse to give us the opportunity to honor the contract, that’s a

violation, to me.” Filing No. 441 at 6]

D. Mr. Johnson’s EEOC Charge
On May 4, 2016, Mr. Johnson filed a Charge of Discrimination with the Equal Employment

Opportunity Commission (theEEOC’). [Filing No. 442.] He alleged discrimination based on

race, and stated:

On April 4, 2016 the Maintenance Super, Charlie Mangold, white male, asked me
and another employee, Reggie Haskins, black male, if we wanted to work overtime
and we agreed and worke@pproximately 2 hours over. The next day we were
allowed to work over again; on the third day, April 6, 2016, Mr. Mangold asked a
third time, but only | accepted the 2 ¥2 hours of overtime. On that day he announced
that no more overtime would be granted that this was the last day for overtime.
But on that day the entire crew noticed that he allow[ed] a whitgocker, Rick
Norman to work overtime. On Aprif'7and &' Rick Norman was again allowed to
work overtime but | was not afforded the opportunity to do so even though | was
the nextin line to work overtime in accordance with the collective bargaining agree
ment. Mr. Mangold has targeted me for intimidation and verbal harassment, as
though he is attempting to provoke me to respon[d] to hisli@asd threat[en]ing
behavior and gestures. Another example of the harsh treatment | am refteiving

Mr. Mangold occurred on April 288. As a result of a severe storm and tornado

in the area, we were told to survey the parks for damage and toaep@fectrical
damage. Afterwards | was the only one reprimanded and belittled in frdm of t
other crew members for “not doing enough work["] even though | am doing every-
thing requested of me. Mr. Mangold even told me not to pick up trash in the park
because he had others doing that assignment.

| feel that | have been the victim of discrimination on the basis of my raceAfric
American....

[Filing No. 44-2]

E. Subsequent Events
On May 11, D16, Mr. Johnsorsubmitted a request to finish his May 12 shift one hour

early so that he could attend a dentist appointméling No. 1 at 4 Mr. Mangold offeredvr.
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Johnson oveiine on May 12, 2016, and Mr. Johnson believes that he did so knowing that he could

not accepthe opportunity [Filing No. 1 at 4 On May 18, 2016, Mr. Johnson filed an Official

Grievance Report with the Union in which he stated:
May 5 Thur. overtime was worked cutting grass in Garvin Park. | had been cutting
there all day and the overtime was assigned to another employee. | ask teebe mad
whole[for the] overtime worked by that employee on May 5.

[Filing No. 446.]> Mr. Mangold offered Mr. Johnson and Mr. Haskins overtime on Mag096,

but both declined the opportunityEifing No. 449 at 5]

Mr. Mangold became aware that Mr. Johnson had fitedGievance and on May 20,
2016 Mr. Mangoldannounced during a morning meeting with the mowing crews that someone
had complained about not getting overtime but otherwise did nothing about the griefralny
No. 4410 at 6] Mr. Johnson claims that Mr. Mangold’s hostile attitude toward him began on this

day. [Filing No. 441 at 8] The same day, Mr. Mangold called Mr. Johnson into his office and

informed Mr. Johnson that he would be splitting up Mr. Johnson’spevson work crew because

they were “behind in their duties.”Filing No. 1 at 4 Mr. Johnson denies that his tygerson

crew was behind, bufaimsthat another twgoerson crew “was the one that was behindkilirig
No. 441 at 8]
Later that same day, Mr. Mangold followed Mr. Johnson to two different locations where

Mr. Johnson mowed, including C.K. Newsome and AkiRilifjg No. 441 at 8] Mr. Mangold

would go to the parks weekly to “see if things were getting done the wawtrey you know,

2 Mr. Johnson filed a Declaration with his response brief in which he states thdete“§econd
grievance against the City on May 9, 2018, alleging that Parks DepartrmeatobBrian Holtz
‘denied equal opportunity[,]’ and showed ‘discrimination against Ernest Johngaénliihig No.
55] Itis not clear what relevance Mr. Johnson thinks this second grievance haslaovsuit.
Because the statement refers to a grievance which was filed aft@olvhson filed this lawsuit,
and since the lawsuit relates only to Mr. Johnson’s denial of overtime opportunitieslian&pr
May 2016, the Court will disregard it as irrelevant.
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they tell me they cut such and such a park, you know, the last day or so, | would go lmglar I ¢
look ahead of time and se&/ow, grass is really growin’ so | wouldl would try and be in the

know of how things were going.”F[ling No. 4410 at 6] Mr. Mangold may have encowned

Mr. Johnson more than other mowing crew employees because Mr. Johnson “took care of C K
Newsome, which is our main office, and | would go down there a couple times sodtngy

would — they would be mowing either out front, or we have a courtyard as well which, you know,
it's glass enclosed so there’s not a lot of grass there, but there’s a lot of deavesleanup,

really, is what they do in there mostly.Filing No. 4410 at6.] Mr. Mangold never approached

Mr. Johnson at these locations, althohghvatched him. iling No. 1 at 5]
On that particular day, May 20, 2016, Mr. Mangold followed Mr. Johfigon Akin to a
nearby Kentucky Fried Chicken restaurant where Mr. Johnson and his gnoewa partner were

going to eat lunch. Hiling No. 441 at 8] After lunch, while Mr. Johnson was working at Akin

and sitting on a lawn mower, he looked at Mr. Mangold and Mr. Mangold thad&ape o gun

with his fingers and pointed it at Mr. JohnsoRiliig No. 441 at 8]° Mr. Mangold had an “evil”

look on his face. Hiling No. 441 at 11] Mr. Johnson fdalfear and “it has nevesverleft me,

because | had seen him several times since I've beenngaakid | don’t know what day it [is]

going to be that he [is] going to kill me.’Filing No. 441 at 8] Mr. Johnson did not report this

3 The City vehemently denies that Mr. Mangold made a gesture with herdipginting like a
gun, and argues that Mr. Johnson made this allegatighddirst time during his deposition tes-
timony, and only after his counsel interjected and characterized the geshem@in the shape
of a gun. PHee, e.g.Filing No. 45 at 9 The Court cannot weigh evidence or make credibility
determinations on summary judgment, but must view all facts in the light most flevtrahe
non-movant -here, Mr. JohnsonO’Leary, 657 F.3d at 630Accordingly, the Court must assume
for purposes of summary judgment that Mr. Mangold made a gesture with his fingeesl hiéie
agun.
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incident to Mr. Holtz or Human Resources because he did not think he would be beliglred. [

No. 44-1 at 10-1]

Mr. Mangold did not learn that Mr. Johnson had filed an EEOC Charge until sometime

after May 20, 20186. [Filing No. 44-14 at ] On May 26, 2016, the City Executive Director of

Administrative Services, George Fithimasponded to Mr. Johnson’s Union Grievance in a letter

to the Union President and Business Manager, Charles Wholstiégg No. 447.] Mr. Fithian

wrote:

Grievant claims he should have been offered overtime at the conclusion of his shift
on May 5, 2016 pursuant to theontinuation of shift” language of Article VII,
Section 9 of th¢CBA]. On that date another employee was properly scheduled to
work overtime beyond the conclusion of the shift he shares with the grievant.
Grievant contends the other employee was adeddor overtime on the date in
guestion to work on the task that the grievant was working on during their regularly
scheduled work hours. Further, grievant contends that per the “continuation of
shift” language in Article VII, he should have been held over to continue that task
in overtime.

Because the other employee is senior to grievant, he was properly offergohev

that date before the grievant. This other employee was not scheduled to work over-
time to work on the task grievant was working aminlg the regular shift that date.

After finishing another assignment during the overtime period, the other employee
was then assigned to that task the grievant had been working on. The other em-
ployee did not “continue the shift” to work on said task.

As a result, this grievance is denied.

[Filing No. 447.]°> The Union did not seek an arbitration hearing on behalf of Mr. Jolmeson

garding the issues raised in Mr. Johnsd@rgevance. Filing No. 444 at 14]

4 The City’s Human Resources Deaent did not receive the EEOC Charge until May 19, 2016.
[Filing No. 44-13]

5> Mr. Johnson testified that a hearing was held on his Grievance and that Mr. Fithiereghfom

that it was to late to grieve all but the last day that Mr. Norman was given overtime and Mr.
Johnson was not.F{ling No. 441 at 11] Mr. Johnson testified that Mr. Fithian told him that he
would pay Mr. Johnson for that last overtime opportunity, but then neverfiochg[No. 4441 at

11]
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On June 6, 2016, Mr. Johnson bid on a positioMeter Maintenance with the City’s
Water Department, which would have resulted in a pay raise for him and would hawednvol

working for a supervisor other than Mr. Mangoldilihg No. 441 at 12] The City awarded Mr.

Johnson the job in June or July 2016, but he turned it down because he did not want to be “pushed

out” of the mowing crew. Hiling No. 44-1 at 12-13

On July 28, 2016, Mr. Johnsd@with the assistance of counsgl¢éd an Amended Charge

of Discrimination withthe EEOC. [Filing No. 441 at 7 Filing No. 445.] Inthe Amended Charge,

Mr. Johnson alleged discrimination based on race and color and retaliation, and statesl that

discrimination took place starting in April 2016 and was “ongoind=ilifg No. 445.] In his
Amended Charge ehsummarized the events dissed above, and alleged that he was not offered
overtime on April 7, April 8, May 4, May 5, May 6, and May 11, 2016, but that Mr. Norman

worked overtime on those date&:iling No. 445 & 1-2.]

Mr. Mangold retired in March 2017 Filing No. 4410 at 3] Mr. Johnsorhas never been

terminated, suspended, or given a written warning by Mr. Mangblitind No. 444 at 8]

F. The Lawsuit

On July 24, 2017, Mr. Johnson filed a Complaint against the City, asserting ofaiace
discrimination, hostile work environment, and retaliation in violation dé'NMil and42 U.S.C. §
1981, and also breach of contract related to the CBAling No. 1] He abandoned hig 1981

claims inhis response to the City’s Motion for Summary Judgmé&iitnf No. 51 at 1], and the

Court GRANTS the City’s Motion for Summary JudgmenEiling No. 43, as to those claims.
The Court now considers the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Mr. Johnsaauisingm

claims.

-11 -


https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969913?page=12
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969913?page=12
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969913?page=7
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969917
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969917
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969917?page=1
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969922?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969913?page=8
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NEDBD2AD0AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://www.westlaw.com/Document/NEDBD2AD0AFF711D8803AE0632FEDDFBF/View/FullText.html?transitionType=Default&contextData=(sc.Default)&VR=3.0&RS=da3.0
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316092250
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07317087152?page=11
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07316969860

1"l.
DISCUSSION

The Court discusseahe parties’ arguments as they relate to each of Mr. Jolsndamms
in turn.
A. Title VII RaceDiscrimination
In support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, the City argues that Mr. Johnsaw’s rac
discrimination claim fails because he did not suffer an adverse employment detiing No. 45
at 1617] It also contends that Mr. Johnson cannot identify a similarly situated indiadiside
of his protected class who was treated more favorably than he was, because Mn Wasmaore

senior than Mr. Johnson so is not similarly situatédgling No. 45 at 19 Finally, the City argues

that there is no evidence showing that it took an adverse employment action agaiosinktinJ
based on his race because overtime was assigned based ostahoingg departmental practice,

and Mr. Mangold’s questioning of Mr. Johnson regarding what work he had completed, reassign-
ing him, and observing him working do not raise a reasonable inference of discomirfatiing

No. 45 at 20-24

In his response, Mr. Johnson argues that he suffered an adverse employmebéeatiee
the amount he would have made had he been permitted to work overtime when Mr. Norman did

was $698.88, or “approximately 90 percen{ro$] regular weekly pay.” Hiling No. 51 at 13

He also argues that Mr. Norman is a comparator because there is evidence indedadvieytime

was not assigned by seniorityEillng No. 51 at 14 He contends that the practice of assigning

overtime based on senigriis a pretext for discrimination F{ling No. 51 at 14-16

In reply, the City argues that when Mr. Mangold allowed all mowers to work ovefdime
a short period in April 2016, ¢hsituation was an “outlier, or exception created by rainy weather

and Springtime grasgrowth conditions....” Ffiling No. 56 at 9 It notes that when the unlimited
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overtime situation mded, this did not mean that mowing crew members would never work over-

time again. [Filing No. 56 at 4 The City contends that even if Mr. Johnson could show that he

suffered an adveesemployment action, he cannot point to a simitailyated comparator because
the evidence shows that overtime was based on senibigypractice was consistent with the
language in the CBAgndMr. Norman is not a similarkgituated comparator because he was senior

to Mr. Johnson. Hiling No. 56 at 1115.] Finally, the City reiterates it argument that there is no

evidence indicating that the City’s reason for assigning overtinMrt Norman rather than Mr.

Johnson was pretextualEiling No. 56 at 15-14

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 forbids an employer from discriminatiggiast
any individual with respect to his “compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges ofyengpin
because of such individual's race, color, religion, sex, or national drigig U.S.C.8 2000e-
2(a)(1) “To survive summary judgment on a Title VII discrimination claim, a plaintiff must pre-
sent evidence that would permit a reasonable factfinder to conclude that thié’'plaace, eth-
nicity, sex, religion, or other proscribed factor caused the dischakgjéijan-Grimstad v. Stan-
ley, 877 F.3d 705, 710 (7th Cir. 201(¢uotation and citation omitted).

The Court’s analysis of Mr. Johnson’s Title VII claims comes over two anthalfgears
after the Seventh Circuit’s decision@rtiz v. Werner Enters., Inc834 F.3d 760 (7th Cir. 2016)
Since that time,hite Court of Appeals has had numerous opportunities to explain andCatigly
in a variety of employment contexts, and it is to this body of law that the Court nusv @tiz
“discarded the longtanding practice of distinguishing between ‘direct’ andiftect’ evidence in
analyzing discrimination claims.Grant v. Trustees of Indiana Unj\870 F.3d 562, 569 (7th Cir.
2017)(citation omitted). Now, instead of separating evidence under different methposof

“[e]vidence must be considered as a whole, rather than asking whether aaylgrapiece of
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evidence proves the case by itsetir whether just the ‘direct’ evidence does so, or the ‘indirect’
evidence.”Golla v. Office of Chief Judge of Cook Cty., lllin@d35 F.3d 404, 407 (7th Cir. 2017)
(quotingOrtiz, 834 F.3d at 765 In determining whether the evidengeuld permit aeasonable
factfinder to conclude that Mr. Johnson’s race caused him to be treated unfairlipufities
shifting framework oMcDonnell Douglagsemains relevant as a means of organizing, presenting,
and assessing circumstantial evidence in frequentlynieg factual patterns found in discrimina-
tion cases.”Owens v. Old WisSausage Co., Inc870 F.3d 662, 667 (7th Cir. 201 ®jcDonnell
Douglas Corp. v. Greert11 U.S. 792 (1973%ee als&howaja v. Session893 F.3d 1010, 1014
(7th Cir. 2018)(Ortiz was “only concerned with the proposition of sorting evidence into ‘direct’
and ‘indirect’ piles, and [its holding] did not alter the burdifting framework establisheid
McDonnell Douglas..”). But the Court “review[s] the evidence holistically to see if it permits
an inference of race discriminationl’loyd v. Mayor of City of Peru-- Fed. App’x----, 2019
WL 1011196, *2 (7th Cir. 2019)

At the heart of Mr. Johnson'’s race discrimination claim is his assertion thénovevas
not really assigned by seniority or that, if it was, tvas a pretext for discriminatiorBut the
undisputed evidenceincluding testimony from Mr. Mangold, Mr. Holtz, and Mr. Normam-
dicates that overtime was assigned by senioAtthough Mr. Johnson testified that when he first
started working at thBarks Department Mr. Mangold would ask everyone who wanted to work
overtime, and people would raise their hands, this does not conflict with the notion that@vert
was actually then assigned based on seniority. That the practice of assigningeobaed on
seniority was not in writing and may have been in contravention of the @BRthat there was

not a list of employees by seniority, are all irrelevaBten if the overtime assignment policy
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should have been in writing and/or violated CBA, ths— by itself—would not provide evidence
of race discrimination.

What is relevant is whether the evidence “permits an inference of race discomihati
Lloyd, 2019 WL 101119@t *2. In this case,tisimply does notWhile “[d]iscrimination may be
inferred when an employer treats an employee in a protected class less yatr@abt treats a
similarly-situated employee outside that clasiLima Silva v. Dept. of Correction817 F.3d
546 559 (7th Cir. 2019Mr. Johnson has not put forth evidence indicating that was the ldase.
comparator, Mr. Norman, was undisputedly senior to him,martlaps was assigned overtime
because he had more experience or had worked at certain sites more than othersn iSo, eve
overtime was not assigned based on senipgtyse Mr. Norman had more experience than Mr
Johnson so is not a viable comparator. Moreover, Mr. Johnson has not pointed to any employees
who were junior to him, yet were assigned overtime instead of him.

Additionally, while “[a]n inference of discrimination may follow when the eoypl’s pur-
ported nondiscriminatory reason for taking an adverse dttigainst the employee was pre-
textual, meaning it was ‘a lie’ or ‘a phony reasond’ at 561 Mr. Johnson has not presented
evidence showing that Mr. Mangold somehow made up the policy as augfardiscriminating
against Mr. Johnson based on his rade show pretext, Mr. Johnson would need ‘idéentify
such weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistencies, or contraditiiotise City's reasons for not
assigning him overtime'that a reasable person could find [it] unworthy of crederiteCole-

manv. Donahoe 667 F.3d835, 852-537th Cir. 2012)(quotingBoumehdi v. Plastag Holdings,

® The parties disagree regarding whether Mr. Johnson suffered the type of awgosenent

action needed to support a race discrimination claim. For purposes of summary judgenent, t
Court assumes that denying Mr. Johnson the opportunity to earn overtime pay was an adverse
employment action.
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LLC, 489 F.3d 781, 792 (7th Cir. 200.7)Mr. Johnson has not presented any evidenceatidg
pretext, such as “shifting or inconsistent explanations” for how overtime wasedsCastro v.
DeVry Univ., hc, 786 F.3d 559, 577 (7th Cir. 2015Whether or not the policy of assigning
overtime based on seniority actually existed, Mr. Johnson has not set forth any ezioeina-
dicting Mr. Mangold’s testimony that that is how he assigned overtime. And ieveny, even if
the City assigned overtime based on some criteria other than seniority, Mr. Johs s jbra-
sented evidence that that criteria was rade. Johnson must do more than “merely repgétat
he believes he was treated differently from coworkers because of hidezaise “personal be-
liefs are insufficient to give rise to a genuine factual disputtegov. Wilkie 907 F.3d1004,
1014(7th Cir. 2018)citation, quotation, and emphasis omittednd “[s]imply being a member
of a protected class, without something more to link that status to the action in quisstion”
sufficient. Cole v. Bd. of Trs. of N. Ill. Uni¥838 F.3d 888, 900 (7th Cir. 2016)hat “something
more” is just not present here.

Similarly, evidence that Mr. Mangold pointed at Mr. Johnson with his hands shaped like a
gun, observed his work while Mr. Johnson was at two different sites on May 20, 2016, or offered
Mr. Johnson overtime on a day when Mr. Mangold knew Mr. Johnson would not ke altaek
overtime, desnot bolster Mr. Johnson’s race discrimination claims. The gun gesture will be
addressed in more detail below, but there is no evidence that it related in any waydbridon’s
race. And a supervisor observing a subordinate’s work does not constitute evideneeddd-rac
crimination under the circumstances presented Heuether, défering Mr. Johnson overtime on a
day when Mr. Mangold knew (or should have known) that Mr. Johnson would not be able to work,
while perhapgpetty andmeanif done intentionally, also does not show that the action was taken

due to higace.
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Mr. Johnson simply has not presented evidence showing that overtime opportunities were
withheld from him due to his race. Accordingly, the City’s Motion for Summary Juclgaseto
Mr. Johnson’s Title VII race discrimination claim@RANTED.

B. Title VIl Hostile Work Environment Claim

In support of its Motion for Summary Judgment, the City argues that not beimgdoffe
overtime cannot support a hostile work environment claim because the reason for that had nothing

to do with race but rather was because overtime is assigned based on sekhidintyN. 45 at

25.] It also contends that even if Mr. Mangold yelled at Mr. Johnson in front of others oréaform
him that he and his crew member were falling behind, those actions are notigelyjer objec-

tively offensive. Filing No. 45 at 25 Additionally, the City argues that observing Mr. Johnson’s

work was just part of Mr. Mangold'’s job in supervising handthat Mr. Mangold pointing at Mr.
Johnson with his fingers shaped like a gun does not support an inferentieetigggturewas

related to his race[Filing No. 45 at 2 The City notes that Mr. Johnson never reported any

incidents, and that he had the chance to work for a different department wherarigolt¥would

not have been his supervisor, but he turned down the opportuRiling [No. 45 at 24 Finally,

the City argues that the actions Mr. Johnson relies on to supipdnbstile work environment

claim were neither severe nor pervasivielliig No. 45 at 27-29

Mr. Johnson responds by arguing that Mr. Mangold threatened him, he was in fear, and
“[a] reasonable person could find that [Mr.] Mangold’s prolonged observation of [Mr.] Johnson,
combined with [Mr.] Mangold’s threatening ‘gun gesture’ are sufficient tateran objectively

hostile work environment.” Hiling No. 51 at 1718)]
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In its reply, the City reiterates it arguments that Mr. Johnson has not set fpahidence
showing that the City’s actions were based on race or were severe or pervasyejrad for a

hostile work environment claim.F{ling No. 56 at 17

Mr. Johnson explains in his response brief that he relies on Mr. Mangold’s “prolonged
observation” ofhim while working and on the “gun gesture” for his hostile work environment

claim. Itis on these actions that the Court focuses its analZesFiling No. 51 at 17-18

An actionable hostile work environmentialerequires the plaintiff to prove: “(1) that the
work environment was both subjectively and objectively offensive; (2) that theshazat was
based on membership in a protected class; (3) that the conduct was severe or panags$ije;
that there is @asis for employer liability."Mendenhall v. Mueller Streamline Cd19 F.3d 686,

691 (7th Cir. 2005) Conduct canrtaid in creating mactionablénostile work environment unless

it is related to the protected characteriseeluckie v. Ameritech Corp389 F.3d 708, 713 (7th

Cir. 2004) The factors the Court may consider in deciding whetheorkenvironment is hostile
include ‘the frequency of the discriminatory conduct; its severity; whether it is @tlysibreat-

ening or humiliating, or a mere offensive utterance; and whether it unreasonatfgres with an
employee’s work performance.Alexander v. Casino Queen, In@39 F.3d 972, 982 (7th Cir.
2014)(citation and quotation marks omitted). The key issue is whether the conduct at istue “qua
ifies as sufficiently severe or pervasive to alter the conditions of [the] emwikonment.” Gates

v. Bd. of Educ. of the City of Chicad16 F.3d 631, 637 (7th Cir. 2019)

The evidence, even when viewed in tlghtimost favorable to Mr. Johnson, is saffi-
cient to withstand the City’'s Motion for Summary Judgment. First, Mr. Mangold\obgeVvir.
Johnson while working on May 20, 2016 simply could not be construed by a reasonable juror as

constituting conduct seevere and pervasive to support a hostile work environment cla@a.
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Matthews v. Donahg&012 WL 4378272, *2 (7th Cir.022) (summary judgment for defendant
on hostile work environment claim appropriate where plaintiff clajraetbng other thingshat

her supervisors excessively scrutinized her wmekause plaintiff had not shown “a pattern of
threatening or humiliatingarassment or a workplace permeated with discriminatory ridicule, in-
timidation, or insult”).

SecondMr. Mangold pointing at Mr. Johnson on a single occasion with his fingers shaped
like a gun also does not support a hostile work environment claine Miitis “not... a general
civility code,” Faragher v. City of Boca Ratph24 U.S. 775, 788 (199&)juotation and citadin
omitted) and while such a gesture may have been andeeverintimidating, it does not create
liability for a hostile work environmentWhile racially chargecdconductoy a supervisois treated
“as much more serious than aworker’s [conduct],"Gates 916 F.3d at 6388, thereis no evi-
dence that the gun gesture was motivated by Mr. Johnson’s Taeegesturenud havehad“a
racial character or purpose” in order to create a hostile work environivamtick v. Hanna Steel
Corp., 653 F.3d 532, 544 (7th Cir. 201(Bllegation that harasser “raised his fist as a black power
symbol” was not sufficient to support hostile work environment claim because theta iaak
of support showing that [the harasser’s] gesture was meanaeaslaattack”). Here, evidence of
a racial character or purpose is lacking

Additionally, the two incidents upon which Mr. Johnson religdr. Mangold following
Mr. Johnson to the work site and observing him while working, and Mr. Mangold makingthe gu
gesture-took place on the same day dertain instances a very limited number of incidents can
support a hostile work environment claibutthere still must be a link to a racial motivatiobee
Cerros v. Steel Technologies, 238 F.3d 1040, 1047 (7th Cir. 20@2Zhere is no ‘magic num-

ber of slursthat indicatea hostile work environment,” and “an unambigsly racial epithet falls
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on the ‘more severe’ end of the spectrumBut here, aeasonable jury could not conclude that
Mr. Mangold observing Mr. Johnson’s work and pointing at him with his fingers in the shape of
gun on May 20 was severe or pervasive enough to create a hostile work epnirodBeeAlamo
v. Bliss 864 F.3d 541, 552 (7th Cir. 201(it) order to succeed on hostile work environment claim,
employee must be subjected “to a humiliating, degrading, unsafe, unhealthful, onswesegwif-
icantly negative alteration in his workplace environment”) (quotation anbcitamitted).

The CourtGRANTS the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Mr. Johnson’s hostile
work environment claim.

C. Title VIl Retaliation Claim

The City argues in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment on Mr. Johnson’s Title
VIl retaliation claim that Mr. Mangold was not aware of Mr. Johnson’s EE@&d&when any

of the actions which Mr. Johnson claims were retaliatory took pld&aing No. 45 at 3681.] It

also contends that the allegedly retaliatory actions wetanateridly adverse employment ac-

tions. filing No. 45 at 31-33

Mr. Johnson responds by stating that Mr. Johnson filed his EEOC Charge on May 4, 2016,
it was received by the City’Human Resources Department, and “[o]n the very next day, [Mr.]
Mangold harassed [Mr.] Johnson, followed and surveilled [Mr.] Johnson for a period of several

hours, and made a violent, threatening gesture toward [Mr.] Johngahiig No. 51 at 19

In its reply, the City argues that Mr. Johnson ignores Mr. Mangold’s testirhabii¢ was
not aware of Mr. Johnson’s EEXOCharge on May 20, 2016, when the alleged retaliatory acts

occured. [iling No. 56 at 20 The City also argues that although Mr. Mangold was aware of
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Mr. Johnson’s Grievance on May 20, Mr. Johnson did not raise any issues related nardiscri
tion, retaliation, or hostile work environment, or anything related to race, in thea@ce, so the

filing of the Grievance was not protected activity under Title VHilifig No. 56 at 2(

To survive summary judgment on his retaliation claim, Mr. Johnson must present evidence

showing “that [ ] he suffered a materially adverse action because [ |he engayeterted ac-
tivity.”” Lloyd, 2019 WL 1011196t *4 (quotingShott v. Katz829 F.3d 494, 497 (7th Cir. 20).6)
The question is “whether the evidence produced would permit a reasonable factfirwhetude
[Mr. Johnson'’s race] caused the [adverse actiofWyear v. Fare Foods Cor®11 F.3d 874,
885 (7th Cir. 2018)

Mr. Johnson appears to base his retaliation claim only on the filing of his EEOGeCharg

[Filing No. 51 at 1§Mr. Johnson only mentioning EEOC charge in his response to the City’s

arguments regarding his retaliation clainijit the Court will address whether his Grievance can
form the basis for his retaliation claim out of an abundance of caution. Mr. Jolilesgohis

Grievanceon May 18, 2016 and Mr. Mangold was aware of the Grievance when he observed Mr.

Johnson on May 20 and made the gun gestufging No. 441 at 8 Filing No. 446.] But Mr.
Johnson did not mention racial discrimination or a hostile work environment in his Geevhac
only complained generally that overtime had been assigned to anotheyeepfoling No. 44-

6.] Because Mr. Johnson’s Grievance did not complain of treatment that was due to beimg a me
ber of a protected class, it cannot form the Hasia retaliation claimSeeCurtis v. Earnest Mach
Prods. Co, 2012 WL 5879439, *2 (S.D. Ind. 201@laintiff’'s email to managememégarding
supervisor “inappropriately leaving the warehouse, failing to show up for portions shiftis

forgetting Plaintiff's work schedule, and inappropriately assigning waid’hot constitute statu-
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torily protected activity where email did not complain thetionsoccurreddue to plaintiff smem-
bership in a protected clas$ymanovich v. City of Indianapoli457 F.3d 658, 664 (7th CR006)

(where plaintiff complained about pay discrimination, but not that the discriminasattied from
his membership in a protected class, his grievance did not constitute protagtgdfacpurposes
of Title VII's anti-retaliation provisions)zleasorv. Mesirow Fin, Inc, 118 F.3dL134, 114717th

Cir. 1997)(employee mustoppose[ ] conduct prohibited by TitlelV or at a minimunm{have]a

reasonable belief he was challenging such conduct” in order to engage in $fabutdeicted
activity) (citation and quotation omitted)

As for his EEOC Chargér. Johnson filedt on May 4, 2016, but Mr. Mangold testified

that he did not learn of the EEOC Charge until sometime after May 20, 2Biiég No. 442;

Filing No. 4414.] Accordingly, theevents Mr. Johnson relies on in connection with his retaliation

claim —which all took placédefore Mr. Mangold knew of the EEOC Chargeannot support a
claim of retaliation based on the Charge. Mr. Mangold cannot have retaliated agaidshivson
for something that he did not know abo@eeBaines v. Walgreen Co863 F.3d 656, 661 (7th
Cir. 2017)(in order to deranstrate causal connection needed for retaliation claim, plaintiff must
show that the defendant “would not have taken the adverse...action but for [the] proteeted acti
ity”) (citation and quotation omitted).

Because Mr. Johnson’s Grievance did not relatad@l discrimination, and since the acts
which Mr. Johnson claims were retaliatory all took place before Mr. Mangalainbe aware that
Mr. Johnson had engaged in statutorily protected activity by filing the EEO@& e Court
GRANTS the City’'s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Mr. Johnson’s Title VIl retaliation

claim.
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D. Breach of Contract Claim
The City argues in support of its Motion for Summary Judgment that Mr. Johiseath
of contract claim igpreempted by Section 301 of thebor ManagemenRelations Act(the

“LMRA”) because the claim is based on the CBAilirjg No. 45 at 33 It also argues that

because it cannot be considered an “employeder the LMRA|t is immune fom suit. Filing
No. 45 at 39

In response, Mr. Johnson argues thiatclaim is not preempted because the LMRA only
applies to industries affecting commerce and because the City comnsidered an “employer”

under the LMRA. Filing No. 51 at 18-19

In its reply, the City argues that th& RA preempts claims founded directly on the CBA,

or that directly impliate the CBA. Filing No. 56 at 2] It also argues that Mr. Johnson could

have “avoid[ed] this remedial gap of sorts by pursuing the appropriate procedwaduemedy
through arbitration as provided under the grievance procedure,” but did not “exhaust &aly arbi

procedure that might have been available” after the City denied his Grievéagy flo. 56 at

22]
Section 301(a) of the LMRA provides:
Suits for violation of contracts between an employer and a labor organization rep-
resenting employees in an industry affecting commerce as defined in thierchapt
or between any such labor organizations, may be brought in any district court of
the United States having jurisdiction of the parties, without respect to the amount
in controversy or without regard to the citizenship of the parties.
29 U.S.C § 185(a) “Employer” is defined as “any person acting as an agent of an employer,
directly or indirectly, but shall not include...any State or political subdivisiorettie..” 29

U.S.C. 8§ 152(2) The City is a political subdivision of the State of Indiafad. Code§ 34-6-2-

110 (defining “political subdivision” as city, among other things), and so is not an “employ
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under 8§ 301 The Court rejects the City’s argument that Mr. Johnson’s breach of contnarciscla
preempted b 301, but that it is then “immune” from suit und3801 because it is not considered
an “employer.” Rathera suit for violation of the CBA cannbt brought against the City under
§ 301(a) of the LMRA, so the LMRA does not preempt Mr. Johnson’s breach of contract clai
Because the Court has granted summary judgment to the City on all of Mr. Johnson'’s fed-
eral claims, and has found that his loteaf contract claim is not preempted by the LMRA, the
Court must dierminewhether it will exercise jurisdiction ovér. Johnson’dreach of contract
claim. The district court ultimately has discretion whether to exercise suppléjueisidiction
overa plaintiff's state law claimsCarlsbad Tech Inc. v. HIF Bio, InG.556 U.S. 635, 639 (2009)
28 U.S.C8 1367(c)“The district courts may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over a
claim...if...the district court has dismissed all claims over which it has original iicticeal....”)
(citation and quotation omitted). When deciding whether to exercise supplemestitiion,
“a federal court should consider and weigh in each case, and at every statatagfatien, the
values of judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and comi@ity of Chicago v. Int'| Coll. of
Surgeons522 U.S. 156, 183 (1997quotingCarnegieMellon Univ. v. Cohill 484 U.S. 343, 350
n.7 (1988).
The Court finds that the balance of factors weighs in favor of declining to exsupigke-

mentaljurisdiction over the remaining state law claim. First, as to judicial econdthgugh

discovery has been completed, the parties have not briefed the substantive iatgs$or¢he

" Additionally, it is not clear whether theafks Department is “an industry affecting commerce.”
Mr. Johnson claims that it is not, the City argues that it is, but neither party previgdsgal
analysis whatsoever. Becaubke City is not an “employer” for purposes&301(a) in any event,

the Court need not decide whether Mr. Johnson’s mowing crew job is in an industry affecting
commerce.
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breach of contract claimthey have only addressed the preemptsse. Secondas far as con-
veniencewitnesses and evidence related to the breach of contract claim wouldbkéké&dgated
in Evansville, where a state court could decide the claim, and not in Indianapolis thikéourt
is located. And third and fourth,h&ther the Parks Department’s overtime policy breached the
CBA is a quintessentially local issue, which is best decided by a stateroaliing the interests
of fairness and comitfactorsweigh in favor of this Court declining to exercise suppleiaen
jurisdiction over the state law breach of contract claim.

The CourtDENIES the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Mr. Johnson’s breach
of contract claim, but declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over that cldidl%-
MISSESit WITHOUT PREJUDICE.

V.
CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the CABRANTS the City’s Motion for Summary Judgment
as to Mr. Johnson’s Title VIl ar@l1981 race discrimination, hostile work environment, and retal-
iation claims andENIES the City’'s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Mr. Johnson’s breach
of contract claimbut declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over that clainDéad

MISSES it WITHOUT PREJUDICE . [43]. Final judgment shall enter accordingly.

/Hon. Jane Mlag§m>s-8tinson, Chief Judge
'United States District Court
Southern District of Indiana

Date: 5/7/2019
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